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Thursday, February 19, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  We will get started.  This is the technical conference for Canadian Niagara Power Inc. transmissions revenue requirement case, EB-2014-0204.


My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for the Board and with me are Mr. Battista and Ms. Kwan, who will be asking questions on behalf of Board Staff.


There really aren't any parties here, but Mr. Taylor maybe I could ask you to introduce your panel.


MR. TAYLOR:  I am Andrew Taylor.  I am counsel for Canadian Niagara Power, and I'll let them introduce themselves, so go ahead.
CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. - PANEL 1

Doug Bradbury

Glenn King


Jie Han


K. Kilfoil


Rod Barber

MR. BRADBURY:  Doug Bradbury.  I'm a director of regulatory affairs with the Canadian Niagara Power.


MR. KING:  Glenn King, CFO, Canadian Niagara power.


MR. HAN:  Jie Han, VP Operations, Canadian Niagara Power.


MR. KILFOIL:  Kevin Kilfoil, manager of technical services, Canadian Niagara Power.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. BARBER:  Rod Barber, regulatory analyst, Canadian Niagara Power.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Taylor, I understand there aren't any preliminary matters.


MR. TAYLOR:  No, there aren't.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I believe Ms. Kwan is first.
Questions by Ms. Kwan:

MS. KWAN:  I just have a couple of questions on the accounting matters.


So my first question is on IR1-Staff-1.  So you indicated that in the consolidated financial statements for CNPI transmission and CNPI distribution, CNPI distribution changed its useful life effective January 1st, 2013.  The 2013 fixed asset amount in CNPI TX's current application is based on no 15 of the 2013 consolidated financial statements, but CNPI TX is changing its useful lives for regulatory purposes in this application, effective January 1st, 2015.

So in your consolidated financial statements, does that mean that only CNPI distribution assets' useful lives were changed January 1st, 2013 and not CNPI transmission?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MS. KWAN:  So, then. in your financial statements you have some assets that are changing useful lives 2013, and some that are in 2015?


MR. KING:  Yes.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And for the TX, why did you choose January 1st, 2015 to do the changes to the useful lives?


MR. KING:  Because that's the date we filed the rate application, so we're seeking the Board's approval to change our useful lives.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And then I have a question on IR2-Staff-9.  So in your fixed assets for a transmission, there is an allocation for distribution assets as well.  Can you confirm that this would mean that one portion of the assets, the portion that pertains to CNPI transmission, reflects the useful lives effective January 1st, 2015, and the other portion of the assets for CNPI distribution would reflect the lives of -- would reflect the useful life changes effective January 1st, 2013?


MR. KING:  No.  In that case, the useful lives -- and we are talking -- I think it was transportation primarily and hardware and software.  So the useful lives of those assets were -- they are primarily transmission.  We consider them distribution assets, so we changed the useful lives of those on January 1st, 2013.


MS. KWAN:  You mean for transmission or for --


MR. KING:  For distribution.  And so when we did the allocation, there was no change to the useful -- because we just allocated over.  So the useful lives for our -- for those assets were changed '13.  And even when they are brought over to transmission, what portion was allocated over, they were all -- they was no requirement for change because they were already changed.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  So, then, essentially the assets for TX has -- is changed 2013, and then the allocated portion from TX is 2013, then?


MR. KING:  The allocated portion is 2013, but --


MS. KWAN:  And the remaining is 2015.


MR. KING:  Yeah.  The transmission assets themselves are 2015.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And I have another question for IR1-Staff-2.  So you explain that you are not proposing to dispose account 1576 because it's -- because you transitioned to ASPI, and the changes in capitalization policy and depreciation rates are effective January 1st, 2015.  So is it your view that account 1576 only applies to the transition to IFRS?

MR. KING:  No, no.  We didn't -- our view was that 1576 didn't apply to transmission, not necessarily just IRFS or ASPI.  We didn't have a transition year.  We didn't move over to change our accounting policies until January 1st, '15, and there was -- thus that was our transition year, the year we rebased, which is our request.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And you thought that the Board's letter asking for changes to useful lives effective January 1st, 2013 didn't apply to transmitters?  Is that --


MR. KING:  Correct.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  So if it did apply, and you did the changes 2013, can you provide an estimate of how much the amount would be to be recorded in account 1576, just rough estimate?


MR. KING:  I can't here now.  I can't give you a number right now.


MS. KWAN:  Could you do that as an undertaking?


MR. KING:  Yes, we can do that as an undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking JT1.1, and could one of you just repeat what the undertaking is just to make sure.


MS. KWAN:  To provide an estimate of the amount that would be recorded in account 1576 if CNPI TX had made the changes to useful lives effective January 1st, 2013.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  To provide an estimate of the amount that would be recorded in account 1576 if CNPI TX had made the changes to useful lives effective January 1, 2013.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And my other question is on IR1-Staff-3 for account 1592 PILs and tax variances for 2006 and subsequent years, the sub account HST OVAT ITCs.


So you stated that you are not aware of any events that would have resulted in the accumulation of costs in the DVA and that CNPI TX was not aware of any direction that was provided to transmitters for this account, but did CNPI TX undergo the change from PST to HST in 2010, though?

MR. KING:  Well, I think everyone underwent a change at some point.  I can't recall the exact year.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  So what -- is your rationale for not -- for saying that the account does not apply is that -- I guess what is your rationale, then?

MR. KING:  The direction from the Board under account 1592, that direction was towards distributors, not transmitters.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  So do you think that the accounting procedures handbook and the associated DVAs don't apply to transmitters, then?

MR. KING:  Well, if you read the accounting procedures handbook, and in particular that account, 1562, was -- or 92, that very specifically says for distributors.

MS. KWAN:  Okay.  But do you rely on the accounting procedure handbook for guidance?

MR. KING:  We rely on general regulatory for guidance, yes.

MS. KWAN:  So you do rely on the handbook for guidance, then?


MR. KING:  Well, just generally regulatory we rely on and guidance.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  But not particularly any of the DVA sections?


MR. KING:  No, no.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  I think that's all my questions, then.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Kwan.


Mr. Battista.
Questions by Mr. Battista:

MR. BATTISTA:  I would like to take you to IR2-Staff-5.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. BATTISTA:  Answer C.  And it had to do with why did CNPI decide to forego the revenue requirement amount related to working capital allowance.  And there is just -- I am just seeking the meaning of the last sentence in your answer to part C, and it is:

"With more recent evolution of revenue requirement applications, both transmission and distribution, it is not likely that an arbitrary determination of working capital allowance would satisfy a regulatory review."

And I couldn't figure that out.

MR. BRADBURY:  The thinking there was in -- and with our experience and reviewing others in the determination of working capital is the intervenors and Board Staff have been questioning diligently the use of, originally, 15 percent, then 13 percent.  Some had used 11 percent.  We have seen going as low as in the 4 percent range.

And in reviewing the data, what was available to us, looking at our particular case where the working capital in our transmission system, with our funds received directly from the IESO on the 17th day, that we have a -- I am not going to say an insignificant lag, but a minor lag in revenues.  And in the absence of a formalized lead lag study, we really didn't feel that there was something that we could bring forward that, you know, that favoured the use of any arbitrary percentage.

MR. BATTISTA:  So that is where the arbitrary word -- it means in the absence of lead lag study.

MR. BRADBURY:  That's right.

MR. BATTISTA:  Any other percentage would be --


MR. BRADBURY:  We would have picked a percentage, of which it would have been difficult to defend in the absence of a study itself.

MR. BATTISTA:  I think generally, in terms of the filing requirements, when there is a proposal for some sort of allowance for working capital, that the assumption is that it has to be based on a lead lag study.

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  So I suppose, absent the lead lag study, it's hard to come up with a number.  And that's why you would have decided that, financially, you could absorb that.

MR. KING:  Yes.  And maybe I can jump in here. Because there was guidance.  In this particular case there was guidance provided to the transmitter saying, if you want working capital, you file a lead lag.  And we said, Well, we can go in and ask for working capital, and we do have some work capital costs, but you told us to file one.  We don't have one.  So we are going to take it on the chin, for lack of a better term.  But there was guidance.  As opposed to some of the other stuff, there wasn't guidance.  But there was guidance, and we followed that guidance.

MR. BATTISTA:  So the word arbitrary isn't directed this way?

MR. KING:  No.  It's more about the percentage.  We have been in settlement conferences and there is lots of debates on the percentage.

MR. BATTISTA:  Thanks.

So I would like to take you to 2-Staff-6.  And we asked you to fill out a gross fixed asset table that takes capital gross assets with depreciation from 2001 to 2016.

MR. BRADBURY:  I believe your reference is wrong.  It's 7.

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, sorry, 2-Staff-7.  Okay.  If you look at the table, page 2 of 2 of the IR response, in 2011, there is a big spike in annual depreciation of about $1.255 million.  What accounts for that?  Generally, it seems to be in the $900,000 range, $800,000.  And then there are two spikes; once in 2005 and once in 2011.

MR. KING:  Just one sec there, now.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. KING:  So if you were to go to Board Staff 4, 32?

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. KING:  I can't give you the precise reason, but it is about the allocation and the jump in that allocation.  You can see at the bottom of your schedule "Depreciation Expense" on page 1 of 4.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. KING:  And that table said 10 not provided.  11, $489,000.  12, $33,000.  So you can see that jump, there. So it is allocated.  I would -- you know I would be hazarding a guess it would be related to some quick -- some quick depreciation IT-type assets or transportation-type assets that would cause that spike.  But I'm -- that is subject to check.  I really don't know.

MR. BATTISTA:  Perhaps could we have an undertaking?

MR. KING:  We can tell you why that spike was, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT1.2.

MR. BATTISTA:  And that is to explain the main reason for the spike, or the increase in annual depreciation, let's say from $835,000 in 2010 to $1,255,000 in 2011, actual.

MR. KING:  Yes from $835 to $1,255, yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  to explain the main reason for the spike, or the increase in annual depreciation, let's say from $835,000 in 2010 to $1,255,000 in 2011 actual.

MR. BATTISTA:  The same thing happens in 2014.  So perhaps if you could include 2014 in there, as well.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. BATTISTA:  Thank you.

MR. KING:  Again, same thing on that schedule.  You see the $358,000.

MR. BATTISTA:  The number presented in the gross fixed assets table we have just spoken about is for -- 2014 is a bridge year, so it's a forecast.  I imagine you have actuals by now?

MR. KING:  We do.

MR. BATTISTA:  Would it be possible to get the actual number for your gross assets?

MR. KING:  We can, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  So, given the timing of the application and all, I guess we would need an update with actuals.  Because if your gross assets -- if we go with the gross asset actuals, then the continuity statements for rate base and the depreciation number for 2014 would all have to be updated to reflect the 2014 actuals.

MR. KING:  Yes.  That can be done.  I am just thinking to myself about timing, as you say, on that.  But certainly that's something --


MR. BATTISTA:  At this point don't know if the change is material or not.

MR. KING:  I can't comment whether it is or isn't material.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  To update gross fixed assets, depreciation, and the continuity of rate base schedules reflecting the 2014 actuals?

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  To update gross fixed assets, depreciation, and the continuity of rate base schedules reflecting the 2014 actuals

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  The next question is 2-Staff-8, and that has to do with the capital expenditures proposed in 2016 for the Bowen Road MTO work.  And question B asked what the status of proposed new highway was and whether the municipality or province have let the construction contract.  And your answer to that was it hasn't let the contract yet.  Do you have a better understanding of the actual intent of the province to proceed with this?

MR. HAN:  In early years, I think it is in 2010, the province did approach us for the expansion of that highway intersection.  However, because of this racetrack, that -- the expansion was delayed.  They cancelled that.  Because if the racetrack goes ahead, the expansion apparently will be a lot bigger than what it is.  So that protect is depending on the racetrack construction.

And since then there are some studies and some environmental issues that delayed the racetrack project, and we are waiting for that project.  At this point our best knowledge is the racetrack will be commissioned in 2017.  So, by using that timeline, without that intersection reconstructed, the racetrack will not go ahead.  We cannot handle the traffic.  So we are assuming, between now and 2017, we have to get that thing done.  And our best guesstimate is start it this year and finish in 2016.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  But have you spoken recently to MTO to see...?

MR. HAN:  We talked -- we had a conference, we did have a chat with them, not formally, just to ask for, and they are saying it is pending because they do not have clear instructions on that one, either.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  Because I guess this is going to go into rate base in 2016, based on the application that's filed in November, and as time goes by, it may be the case that it may not be used and useful by 2017, if at all.

MR. HAN:  Possible.

MR. KING:  Can I just jump in here?  Yeah, it is one of these situations where it could very well go ahead, and it could not go ahead, you know.  We are going on the assumption it is going ahead.

MR. BATTISTA:  I appreciate that, but, you know, given government budgetary realities and whatnot.  But it is in your rate base for 2016; right?  It's in your revenue requirement for 2016?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.  The completion is 2016.

MR. TAYLOR:  Perhaps what we could do is maybe the applicant can undertake to go back to MTO and see if they can get some more updated information.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  That would be helpful.  Thank you.  JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  Applicant to go back to MTO to get more updated information.

MR. BATTISTA:  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-11, and this has to do with the international power line, the IPL rebuild proposal.

And you confirm that the IPL -- existing IPL has been in a state of forced outage since March 2013.  Have there been any service interruptions since March 2014, which would have required the -- 2013, which would have required, you know, the availability of the line that is no longer available because of the forced outage?

MR. HAN:  There is no forced outage in that nature; however, there is a pending planned outage on our transmission system.  Without IPL, we will have to take the town out of power for approximately eight hours.

MR. BATTISTA:  Let me back up a bit.  I think in your evidence you state -- and I can find it if I need to -- is that currently the line, you know, from Bertie to Buffalo is in forced outage.

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Oh, okay.

MR. HAN:  It is in forced outage.  We have -- we -- over the inspections over the last few years, one of the issue was identified on our transmission system to repair that system -- to repair that problem requires a system-wide outage unless we switch this system into the American, but because of the forced outage situation, we cannot do that, and right now we are hoping the product can be done in this year, and then we can take the power outage -- the thing done and short outage, and then we can repair that problem.

It is not a very, very serious problem, but it does require a lengthy repair.  It will be a planned outage, not a forced outage.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  This is for going forward.

MR. HAN:  Going forward, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  One of your 17 or 18 has to be --


MR. HAN:  Yes, 17.

MR. BATTISTA:  Seventeen.

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  And in order to do that, you have to have an outage.

MR. HAN:  Right.

MR. BATTISTA:  As then as long as it's within eight hours, I guess, it's okay.

MR. HAN:  It's okay, but we try to avoid that if we can.

MR. KILFOIL:  Shorter is better.

MR. BATTISTA:  That's right.  You don't like those headlines in the paper.

Okay.  But at least in terms of since March, since the forced outage of the IPL, you have been managing without a major incident?

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  In explaining the amount of time it takes to repair things and consistent with the ORTAC, you mention that, if one of the steel towers supporting the A36N and 37N failed and needed to be replaced, it could take as much as three days to do that, which is obviously more than eight hours.  What is the probability of or likelihood of such a failure happening that would require, you know, a recovery period of three days for those steel towers?

MR. HAN:  The probability is very low at this point, but our opinion is this is one of those managing risks.  It's a low probability but high consequences.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-12, and this has to do with the work done on station 18 to enhance it from a single-element facility to a dual-element facility.  And in your answer, the last paragraph at the bottom of the page, or the second-last paragraph, it says:
"However, the CNPI DX's distribution system had insufficient load transfer capability to transfer the much larger loads normally served by station 18 within a reasonable time frame."

Could you expand on -- I don't get what that exactly means.

MR. HAN:  The station 18 and the station 17 has a low voltage, 345 KV, parallel lines.  Because the station 18 has more load, in order to switch all this load from station 18 to station 17 will -- under certain load condition, the system is not sufficient.

MR. BATTISTA:  The DX?

MR. HAN:  The DX, this is all DX.

MR. BATTISTA:  The DX system?

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  So, therefore, it's DX's --


MR. HAN:  In this case, DX is the backup of the TX.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. KILFOIL:  It's sort of an artifact of the way the DX/TX was operated when it was one company.  There was limited transfer capability at the distribution level between 17 and 18.  However, there is -- because of the smaller load at 17 compared to 18, there is sufficient capacity to transfer 17's load to 18, but there is insufficient capacity to transfer 18 to 17.  There is not enough feeders.

MR. BATTISTA:  So that means, then -- and I don't want to put words in your mouth.  It is not argument or anything -- that some of the expenditures incurred on the TX side is because the DX side can't handle.

MR. KILFOIL:  There is no obligation on the DX's side to have any transfer capability.  That's just an artifact of the way it was configured before market opened.

MR. BATTISTA:  But the way the plant is configured and that's how they are, since they can't fully -- you can't fully utilize 17 to offset downtime.  Then you had to --


MR. BRADBURY:  That's really not the issue.  The -- in order to meet load obligations -- if we start looking at it from the point of view of the distributor, the distributor would have to make significant investment in a distribution system that is above and beyond what a normal distributor would do to compensate for a design that the transmitter has.

So in normal -- the normal configuration of a station is a dual-element station.  If you look at Hydro One or other stations, the normal design is a dual element.  So if you have a failure of one element, the other element can carry on.

So what you are -- I am not going to say implying, but the way the question goes, the distributor -- you would infer the distributor has some obligation to invest in plant that the distribution customers would pay for to compensate for a weaker design or a lesser design in the transmitter system.  So you can't -- you can't really look at it and say that the distributor is weak; therefore, the transmitter has got to do something.  It's the other way around.  The transmitter has a weakness in their design, and the alternative to a transmission -- the transmitter investing and bringing its design up is the distributor would do something and pass those costs to its distribution customers.  So that is really where the crux of the argument comes in here.

MR. BATTISTA:  So you are saying it is an obligation or a responsibility of the transmitter.

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, I am.

MR. BATTISTA:  Not because of inadequacy on the distribution side.

MR. BRADBURY:  The distributor has done everything, really, that it is obligated to do.  To do to do more would be passing costs to its customers and, in a sense, compensating the transmitter not having to do something.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  So this built-in redundancy, you really didn't seek and I don't -- it is not apparent to me that there was a capital contribution from the distributor.

MR. BRADBURY:  There wouldn't be a capital contribution because the distributor doesn't, in -- as a whole, as a distributor, doesn't have an issue.  It falls victim to a weakness in its host transmitter's system.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I understand.  What you are saying is that the fact that they can't receive high load, relatively speaking, off 17 is really not -- it's not their problem.  It is a problem --


MR. BRADBURY:  It is a part of the geography.  If you look at CNPI's distribution system, station 18 is located in Fort Erie proper.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. BRADBURY:  So it is located in -- larger industrial customers, the bulk of our residential customers, the biggest section.  Station 17 is located -- geographically is located in Stevensville, a very sparsely populated area, mostly farming, smaller rural communities.  So by the very nature, the load, the load centre, is around station 18.  So that -- I mean, that is just electrically the way they are connected, you know.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 11-Staff-13.  And this was a question about, you know, what the primary reason for justifying the IPL rebuild project is.  And in your answer you are saying it's difficult as to what the primary reason is.  And then you go on to say, you know, in addition to -- emergency power to solve a service problem in the Fort Erie area is an important reason.  
Another reason is the idea of an international connection with the national grid located in New York.

But in terms of -- are you saying there is not a primary reason?  Or are these equal reasons for the Board to consider when it comes to saying whether this rebuild project should be included in your rate base?

MR. BRADBURY:  I think what we are saying is there is no singular reason.  You know, you can weigh the reasons, maybe, but there is no singular reason.

The IPL has been in existence predating the opening of the market.  It is there and it provides -- because we are ratedly fed from Murray and Niagara Falls through Hydro One's connections to our transmission system and we are interconnected.  We have a long radial line that travels to our stations 17 and 18.  There is no reasonable solution to building or looping because we are at the end of the system.  We are a border town with the United States.  We are -- so there is no reasonable solution.

So back in 2001, in the previous rate application, you know, it was identified that that system was a valuable component to the Canadian Niagara Power transmission system.  There was a recognition it was a radial-fed line, it crosses the Welland River, goes through a rather heavily populated section of Niagara Falls that is very difficult to access, particularly in the winter months.  It travels along an open, rural area through into Fort Erie.

So it was seen as a very valuable asset.  If there was trouble in the Hydro One system and the Beck system, that it provided an alternative means of powering the Southern Niagara area, which Fort Erie occupies.

There is -- it is also very well recognized by the OPA and the IESO, that international interties and interties with neighbouring jurisdictions are very valuable.  And, you know, this is an existing intertie.  The corridor is there, the international crossing to Buffalo, New York, the permits are in place, the National Energy Board permits, the residential permits are all in place.

So, to us, that is also a very important part of maintaining the IPL.  It is -- it does have strategic value, you know.  It may have more strategic value in the future, but to us it is -- the emergency supply and the strategic value are both reasons for rebuilding the IPL.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 11-Staff-14.  And question A, it had to do in regard to the original leave to construct proposal, which was denied by the Board a number of years ago.

And you note in the last sentence of answer A:
"Although the Board found that FORTRAN was not justified based on reliability of supply, the Board in this proceeding is faced with the issue whether reliability of supply, among other reasons, justifies the IPL rebuild project."

And I -- can you explain to me the difference, because I presume you are paraphrasing here, that FORTRAN was not justified based on reliability of supply, and you are saying the IPL, though -- in this proceeding, the issue is whether reliability of supply justifies it.  I can't -- they seem to be the same to me.

MR. BRADBURY:  We have to realize that project FORTRAN was a $31 million project that was put before the Board that would have seen the installation of ring boss, specialized protection systems, and a phase-shifting transformer, in addition to the IPL itself being rebuilt.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. BRADBURY:  The IPL was just a component of project FORTRAN.  So you are talking about whether a $31 million project is justified based on reliability of supply, and then drawing direct comparison to that of the -- is it $7 million -- $7 million to sustain an asset that already exists.  I mean, the IPL exists.  You know, the conductors are across the river, the operating procedures are in place, and as I said before the permitting is in place.

So we are talking now about a $7 million project as opposed to an almost four- to five-fold project, which is a $31 million project.

So what I am saying is, you know, the reliability of supply and the other reasons in your previous -- about the strategic value changes the equation, in our view.

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.  It sounds like the IPL rebuild is more about security of supply, because it is a one-way thing.  It is not synchronized.  You know, it's really -- you use it if you need it, kind of thing.

MR. BRADBURY:  It is also sustainment of the security.  We enjoy the security and -- the customers in the Southern Niagara region -- enjoyed that security since the market opened, since May 2002.  They have enjoyed and benefited from that being there.  All we are saying is we want to maintain it.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right, okay.  And so the FORTRAN project was more a case of security of supply plus other stuff?

MR. BRADBURY:  The FORTRAN project was an expansion of the transmission system.  This is a sustainment.

MR. TAYLOR:  Can I jump in?  And they will correct me if I am wrong about this, but as I understand it, what the Board was dealing with in the FORTRAN leave to construct proceeding was whether or not the synchronous tie line was justified based on reliability of supply, and now what we are dealing with is whether or not having any line is justified based on reliability of supply as well as other reasons.

So in FORTRAN the Board -- in the leave to construct, the Board wasn't considering FORTRAN versus having no line whatsoever.  It was FORTRAN or the existing line, and in that case, the Board wasn't faced with the concern or the issue of the existing line having to be replaced.

MR. BATTISTA:  No.  It was that last sense.  It sounded like, on both sides, it was reliability of supply, and this discussion sort of helped clarify that.

In the same IR, part B, the question was:
"Did CNPI TX consider including economic benefits as a justification for the project?"

And in your answer, you mention that replacement or removal is more costly than the preferred alternative and that the do nothing alternative is less costly, and that's an economic feature, but it's not recommended because of public safety concerns.  And I was wondering how severe those public safety concerns are with the do nothing alternative, the status quo.

MR. BRADBURY:  In the do nothing, you are left with a transmission asset that travels directly through the populated area of Fort Erie, you know, from our station 18 to the river crossing, you know, travels through industrial, commercial, and residential, and it travels through a fairly tight right-of-way in a heavily -- a resident area and a tight right-of-way through the commercial area near the Peace Bridge.

So to do nothing, you essentially leave an asset in place that, you know, is left there open to the elements, open to -- and you are not -- because it is not being used, it is -- I assume, when you do nothing, then it's just an appendix; it's a clothesline, in the sense of it's not going to be energized, so there is no protective devices.  You don't know if the wire falls until a customer calls and tells you.  So the risk, if we were, I think, to review the risk of it, it is a very, very significant risk for us to own an asset that isn't monitored, isn't energized.  So we have no -- no live monitoring of its condition.

So I think it is a -- in my view, 30 years in electrical industry, it would be a significant risk.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  But there's no -- the transmission system code or other codes don't require --


MR. BRADBURY:  I think good utility practice require that you would not leave a derelict asset in, you know, there -- and I don't think our customers or the civic authorities of Fort Erie would want it there either.

MR. HAN:  I will add a comment on that, too.  In 2012, during a wind storm, some of the material would blow off the 200-feet tower.

MR. BATTISTA:  Is that the Queen Street?

MR. HAN:  Yes, the Queen Street tower.  As a result, we have to report, and we have to quarantine the area and with traffic blockage until the storm is over, and that one -- that is really one of the significant trigger for us to seriously consider, this even though we had inspection program done on that project before, and there are identified some mechanical issues -- stress, the lumber bars, and that kind of stuff.  But that incident itself really triggered to say, you know, we are facing some serious problem here.  We have to do something as soon as possible.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-17.  And question B was:

"What is the latest date for Board approval to ensure that the project is completed by 2015 -- October 2015?"

Which is your planned date.

And you mention that you would need a decision by March 1st, 2015.

My guess -- so what happens the Board decides -- the decision is rendered in May, because it sounds like you are not going to be buying your materials until you know for sure that it is a go from a regulatory point of view.  So let's say the decision is made in May.  Wouldn't that move the project into 2016, the completion?

MR. HAN:  Let me explain to you this question.  When we did our estimate at the time we went to the manufacturer, one of the manufacturers, to get budgetary quotes on material delivery.  At the time, they told us it is 20 to 28 weeks on material delivery.

So we took 24 weeks as average, and then we add on the construction cost at the end of it, so we estimate about eight months we get -- that is the time frame we require to complete this project.  Keep in mind we deliberately pick a date of October because we wanted to have a couple months for buffer, buffer room, and also that is a budgetary time.  It's all market driven, so it is beyond our control, but we will do our best when the time comes.  We think there is room to squeeze with the manufacturer on the delivery time, so we will do our best to try to accomplish that in 2015.

MR. BATTISTA:  So you are saying, from the time of the Board's decision, if I heard you right, it will be eight months before it's up and running, used and useful.  Is that...

MR. HAN:  That is the estimate based on the budgetary delivery time of a manufacturer.

MR. BATTISTA:  So it could be more than eight months, but not less than eight months.

MR. HAN:  It could be less than eight times too, because they told us the -- we took the average delivery time, not the minimum or maximum.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  Your average.  Okay.

In that IR, there was question F, and that had to do with the plant that will be in the IPL rebuild, the tower on the Buffalo side of the river, and it had to do with the whole question of jurisdiction, which came up in the FORTRAN proceeding.  And in answering the question, you mention that the Board made no finding whether CNPI capital contribution towards facilities in the United States would, in fact, pose a jurisdictional issue.

It sounds like the Board didn't sort of come to any conclusion there.  Will the Board in this decision have to make a finding, do you think, whether capital contribution on a US asset is appropriate?  Because I understand that you are not going to own the tower that is going to get rebuilt on the American side of the river, but in lieu of owning it, you going to give a contribution the that utility, and such contribution will be in your rate base; is that correct?

MR. TAYLOR:  That is correct.  We don't believe it's an issue.

MR. BATTISTA:  So you haven't investigated anything, like, from a legal point of view or a regulatory point of view?

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, we haven't found anything that would preclude the Board from including it in rate base, given that it's serving Ontario customers.

MR. BATTISTA:  Because I am not aware of very many examples in practice where that happens, so in this business, who knows?  But okay.  But, from your perspective, it is a no-brainer in a way that it should be -- the jurisdictional issue doesn't impact having assets, a contribution, American side of the river in your rate base.

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-18.  2-Staff-18 sort of outlines the components of the IPL rebuild.

And the response to question A indicates that, in 2012, which is -- there was $352,000, which is part of the $7.2 million budget for this project.  In 2012 a total of $352,000 was invested in reinforcements to Queen Street Tower to correct structural deficiencies.  So this was like -- it sounds like this is a repair, a repair.  If it was a repair, did you expense it in 2012?  Or is it going to be part of the rate base as part of the larger project?

MR. HAN:  On this particular one, that is the one where, I mentioned the last time, that is the one we had some material blow off.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. HAN:  So as a result, for people to go on there to work, you have to replace the decking.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. HAN:  And by definition, replace the decking will be an extending of life of a structure.  So we consider that as a capital expense.

At that time, we don't know what is going to happen to this IPL.  It is not part of the IPL project as defined today.  Like this is not IPL.  When we say IPL project here, we are referring to replacing, retiring and replacing.

At that time when we spent $352,000, we were saying, We have a problem.  We have to replace these parts.  Let's do it.

MR. KING:  Yes.  Our position is that it extended the life of the tower and that is why it was capitalized as opposed to expensed.

MR. BATTISTA:  It was capitalized in 2012?  Or is it part of the dollars you are closing to rate base in 2015.

MR. KING:  It would have been capitalized in 2012, is my understanding.

MR. BATTISTA:  Subject to check, I guess.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. BRADBURY:  I think maybe, Richard, there is some confusion where it says in brackets in part A, "part of the IPL."  I think what part of the IPL means here is part of the physical IPL, not the IPL project.

MR. BATTISTA:  Oh, okay.  Because that --


MR. BRADBURY:  It is part of the physical assets that make up the IPL, or the international power line.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I guess the question -- what prompted this is that there were -- in evidence, there were two numbers --


MR. BRADBURY:  I understand, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  -- given for rebuild project, and I was sort of asking what the difference was.  And it is this 352, which sounded like an expense-y kind of thing.  And you are saying no, because it extended the life, you put it in rate base.  Right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  And if the IPL rebuild goes ahead, this tower comes down.  So the $300,000, then, will be recovered from ratepayers.  It's part of the removal of the existing -- it's part of the removal costs.

MR. BRADBURY:  Is that a question or a statement?

MR. BATTISTA:  Or just confirming what I have sort of said, that -- so you --


MR. BRADBURY:  It is a part of the asset that's being removed, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  So you are going to -- the net book value of that asset, I presume, the recovery of that is part of the project?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. BRADBURY:  As with any asset, you know, some assets live beyond their useful life, some assets don't.  It was a project that had to be done, as Mr. Han said.  We had to secure the structure, so we had to extend the life of the structure.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  2-Staff-20.  And this question asked to confirm that the IPL rebuild project increases, as compared to 2013 actual, the average net book value of rate base by more than 40 percent, which you did confirm.

In that -- increasing rate base by 40 percent is pretty significant and, given that magnitude, did it ever occur to you to come forward to the Board to ask for a deferral account for this project in advance of your cost of service application?  Just given the magnitude of, you know, on a comparative basis, what was happening to your rate base?

MR. KING:  This was -- you know, we viewed it as sustaining capital and we didn't feel we needed to come get a deferral account.  We felt the need to take down the tower and we took down the tower, and hence we are looking for, you know, Board approval to rebuild the tower to sustain what we already had there.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  It was just the experience with the FORTRAN, I was just....

MR. KING:  We were concerned about public safety and we were concerned with the tower.  And we felt it had to be done and that is what we did.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-21, and that concerns CNPI's indication that the OPA supports the IPL rebuild project and that there is strategic value in maintaining that kind of corridor. From your perspective and your answer, you reinforce that.  And I was just wondering, from your perspective, CNPI's perspective, does maintaining the corridor mean the same thing as actually maintaining then connection?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  Without maintaining the connection and the physical assets that occupy that corridor, I believe I explained that we may very well lose any rights to that corridor in the future.  I think that's -- we explained that in the -- when we discussed registered and unregistered easements.

MR. BATTISTA:  And with respect to the unregistered easements, could a third party transmitter have access to those easements?  Or is it sort of...?

MR. BRADBURY:  In my view, no.  The unregistered easements are -- acknowledge the occupation of the lands by the existing asset and the existing asset owner.

MR. BATTISTA:  And so is this -- just to get it on the record, the registered easements and unregistered easements for that corridor, where you have the right to go there, these were granted -- who granted these?

MR. TAYLOR:  These are -- these unregistered easements are held by CNPI as a result of adverse possession of land.  So they have been using them for a long period of time.  And as a result of that, almost like squatters rights, their rights are codified via the Planning Act.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. BRADBURY:  Just to clarify, we have occupied this corridor for in excess of 100 years.

MR. BATTISTA:  That's right.  Like 1916, or something. 
Okay.  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-23, and this has to do with the delivery point performance targets and standards.

In terms of the standards that you are proposing, there are standards that would be based on your five-year average, and there are standards that are based on Hydro One's.  And are you proposing that you use Hydro One's?  Or are you proposing that you are going to use the five-year average?  It's a bit --


MR. KILFOIL:  What we are proposing is that, in our opinion, the CNPI transmission system is too small to do meaning statistical analysis and benchmark just against itself, so we chose to adopt Hydro One's standards because, obviously, they have a much bigger system, and the metrics that they come up with after their detailed analysis, we felt, would be applicable to us in our little corner attached to Hydro One's system.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. KILFOIL:  So we chose to adopt their numbers as we knew the Board had already approved those numbers in principle for systems like ours.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  And in answering your interrogatory, you are still holding to that?

MR. KILFOIL:  That's correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  Even though -- okay.  But now we do have numbers having to do with a five-year average.

MR. KILFOIL:  Correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  Those are laid out in the table under response to D; right?  Okay.

Just for the record, can you just -- so it is in one place so I can understand it, can you explain to me how the average target number of 22, let's say, for station 17 is calculated?  Twenty-two minutes, I guess, and the maximum 140 minutes.

MR. KILFOIL:  Those are not -- those are target values; those are not calculated values.

MR. BATTISTA:  But don't they come from actuals like an averaging of actuals?  No?

MR. KILFOIL:  No.  The 22 minutes per year for the average and the 140 minutes per year for the maximum target are the same numbers you will find in Hydro One's delivery point standards.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  That's where.  Okay.

MR. KILFOIL:  And, in fact, if you look at the interrogatory question itself, that table itself is referenced from the Hydro One equivalent.

MR. BATTISTA:  Oh, I had it backwards, because in the opening of the -- I thought Table 1 that is referenced in the opening of the interrogatory, I thought that was Hydro One.

MR. KILFOIL:  Table 1 is an excerpt from our customer delivery point performance standards, but it is identical to the values you would find in the Hydro One tables.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  So I presumed that was Hydro One, and then when I look at the purple in D --


MR. HAN:  The first column in purple is our number; the last two columns of the purple is the standards, the Hydro One number, the Hydro One number.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  So this is the actual.

MR. HAN:  So our average is 128 minutes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  And that is the Hydro One average.

MR. KILFOIL:  It is CNPI's proposed targets referencing the Hydro One targets.

MR. BATTISTA:  But the 22 minutes, I can't find them in the table that appears at the very beginning of the IR question, which is based on Hydro One.

MR. KILFOIL:  I believe if you look under the 15-to-40-megawatt right-hand side of the table.

MR. BATTISTA:  Oh, there it is.  Yes.  Because these facilities are 15 to -- that's the size, greater than 15 to 40, and there is the 22.  Okay.  Got it.

Just out of curiosity, the column headings in the table in D say maximum -- maximum target, while on the Hydro One, it is minimum target.  Is that just a typo or intentional?

MR. KILFOIL:  I think it is a difference in semantics.  I think is the way that is -- we are saying that is the maximum value beyond which you have to react, and I think Hydro One is simply saying that's our minimum number before we react.  I think we are saying the same thing with different semantics, I believe.

MR. BATTISTA:  As much fun as trying to figure out an inlier and an outlier.

MR. KILFOIL:  It might have been clearer if we could state that as a one-year target as opposed to maximum target.  It might make it more clearer what we are actually referring to.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I would like to take you to 2-Staff-24.  Oh, sorry, I will repeat that.  It is 11-Staff-25.

And this was a question regarding the alternative of removing the IPL, the alternative of removing the IPL.  And it focused on the comparative of costs involved in comparing the alternatives.

In the response to the question, "Why is retiring the 150 KV line between station 18 and Bertie Hill at 5.9 million three times more expensive than removing the existing IPL?" which is 1.1 million, which is in the preferred alternative, so the 5.9 million, if you look at the CNPI transmission system block map, it appears in a number of places in your evidence.  I presume you have it handy. Do you have it handy?

MR. KILFOIL:  Are you referring to the one-line diagram or the one that basically has like a straight line?

MR. BATTISTA:  It is a coloured one.

MR. KILFOIL:  Thank you.

MR. KING:  Do you have a reference?

MR. BRADBURY:  Exhibit 1, Tab 1, Schedule 13, does that one work for you?

MR. KILFOIL:  It appears on page 7 of the transmission management plan as well.

MR. HAN:  Yes, we have it.

MR. BATTISTA:  So in your response saying:  "Removal of the IPL involves retiring two lattice steel towers and two spans of conductors."   So where is that on the map, on the system NPI transmission system block map?

MR. HAN:  The IPL, as defined, if you look at the -- from the left, the last second little map there -- from the right, sorry, the last second little block there, that is considered as an IPL.

MR. BATTISTA:  So that is the dotted line?

MR. HAN:  That's the dotted line square, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Dotted line box.

MR. HAN:  But not including the Bertie Hill tower.  The Bertie Hill tower itself is not part of the IPL as defined.  It is the span after the Bertie Hill.  It's two spans and then two towers.  The last two dots and the two spans in between the three dots.

MR. BATTISTA:  So it appears to be in the --


MR. HAN:  It appears in the box, yes, but it is not including Bertie Hill tower.

MR. BRADBURY:  If you picture it, the tower is there, so everything on this side line is IPL.  It also holds up the line going back to station 18.  So you can't remove it or the wires would fall to the ground.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  But when you refer to the IPL, you mean after the tower.  The conductor is towards the United States.

MR. BRADBURY:  The tower is always supporting the conductors that go back to 18, and it supports the IPL conductors.

MR. BATTISTA:  The IPL, okay.  So when the removal of the IPL retiring -- so are those the Bertie Hill ones, then?  Is that Bertie Hill.

MR. HAN:  The Bertie Hill Tower will not be removed.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  That is not removed.  So what is the retiring two lattice steel towers and two spans of conductors?  The first sentence of your answer under A.

MR. HAN:  The last two dots, one is called Buffalo High Tower.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. HAN:  And the other one is the Queen Street Tower.   Those two are the lattice steel towers.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  So I will just write it down.  So the Buffalo High Tower is on the US side?

MR. HAN:  That is right.  That is where the purple, the darker purple --


MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. HAN:  That is actually -- the darker purple is the Niagara River.  That is where the international border line is, in the middle of that.

MR. BATTISTA:  And that would cost $1.8 million?

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. HAN:  And the conductors -- the two span conductors is ended at Bertie Hill Tower on the river side, on the American side.

MR. BATTISTA:  Then there is the 1.5 kilometres of 150 KV consists of -- that one there is the one that is $5.9 million.

MR. HAN:  That is the Bertie Hill Tower and all the way back to station 18.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right, okay.   So that's -- okay.  And the calculation of that retirement, the 1.5 kilometres from Bertie to station 18, do you have a more detailed breakdown of what the $5. million is comprised of?

MR. HAN:  The information we provide as evidence in the report, in the filing, is a translation of an actual quote from a third party making that quote.  The reason is we want to put everything in Canadian dollars.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.

MR. HAN:  And the quote provided by the third party is actually in US dollars.  So we have an actual quote here that is from the company making the estimate.  However, it is not in great detail either.  This is a preliminary estimate and they didn't go to -- they went to the site but didn't go into engineering details to estimate.

MR. KING:  We can file this as evidence, this quote.

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, if it's not confidential.

MR. KING:  No, it's not confidential.  No, we can file this as evidence.

MR. BATTISTA:  This is an estimate, not a bid?  You didn't put this to tender and all of that stuff?

MR. KING:  No.

MR. HAN:  What we did is we found a couple of guys in Canada to try to make an estimate.  They charged us $30,000 just to look at it.

MR. KING:  As you appreciate, we don't want to do this but can you gives an estimate to do this?

MR. BATTISTA:  That's regulation for you.

MR. HAN:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we just mark it as an exhibit, Mr. Taylor.  That way -- that will save you from having to file it separately and, if you have it here, we can just make some copies before you leave.

Okay.  So we will call that Exhibit KT1.1.  And what is the title?

MR. TAYLOR:  It's an "Estimate from O'Connell."

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  Document entitled "Estimate from O'Connell"

MR. TAYLOR:  The other thing to take note of, though, this estimate was provided when the US dollar was lower than it is now.

MR. HAN:  Yes, this is US dollars.  And the reason for that is we have -- we didn't attach to this that everything is in Canadian dollars, so we made a translation of this document as evidence in our filing and in Canadian dollars using the then exchange rate.

MR. KING:  So we used 1.1 as the exchange rate.  Today it's not a 1.1 exchange rate.

MR. TAYLOR:  So then the $5.9 million estimate would be low by today's standards?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. HAN:  Yes.  But the $5.9 million estimate is not directly -- is including other items, not only the retirement.  It also includes the rebuild of -- the $400,000 rebuild of distribution lines.

MR. BATTISTA:  Right.  I would like to take you to 4-Staff-34, and that is operating and maintenance expenses.  We asked you to fill out a table similar to the gross assets table providing information from 2002 to 2016.

Similarly to the undertaking for the gross assets, I presume you have OM&A actuals for 2014?

MR. KING:  We would.

MR. BATTISTA:  Would you undertake to --


MR. KING:  Yes, we will.  To provide OM&A actuals for 2013 similar to what's provided in this interrogatory.

MR. BATTISTA:  That would be undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  To provide OM&A actuals for 2014 similar to what's provided in Interrogatory 4-Staff-34.

MR. TAYLOR:  Richard, just going back to the previous line of questioning, we would like to offer an undertaking to recalculate the cost of the portion of line between Station 18 and Bertie Hill Tower in current US dollars.

MR. BATTISTA:  That is fair.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will bring us to JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  to recalculate the cost of the portion of line between Station 18 and Bertie Hill Tower in current US dollars.

MR. BATTISTA:  So we are at --


MR. TAYLOR:  Richard, how much more time do you think you are going to need?

MR. BATTISTA:  Ten minutes.  Do you need a break?

MR. KING:  No.  If you are ten minutes, I think we are good.

MR. BATTISTA:  We don't want you to be distracted, so if you need a break...  You are good? 


Okay, back to 4-Staff-34.  If you look at the numbers in the OM&A from 2002 to 2013 actual, in 2008, there is an increase of 18.5 percent as compared to the previous year and, in 2009, 5.3, 2010, another increase of 13.8 percent, and in 2011, an increase of 8.9 percent.  And obviously these increases year on year are more -- are in excess of the rate of inflation.

So in looking at the numbers for 2010 and 2011, if we look at the schedule found at E 4, 22, appendix 2 JB, that is the cost driver schedule?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry.  Will you repeat that reference, please?

MR. BATTISTA:  Exhibit 4, Tab 2, Schedule 2, and it is called appendix 2 JB, which is like from the Excel Spreadsheets nomenclature.  It is called "Recoverable OM&A Cost Driver Table."

In that table, when you look at the increases, one of the major components is the shared service allocation.  And when you compare 2010 actual of $1.46 million total OM&A to the request in 2015 of 2. -- about 2 million, if you add up the shared service allocation increases and decreases during that period, there is a net increase of about $199,000, and I was wondering if you could undertake, unless you know the answer now, what would account for an increase in your shared services between 2010 actual and your requested proposed OM&A for 2015?  Really, all you do is sort of add up the amounts of 101,000 in 2011 actuals, and then there is another 98,000 in 2012.

MR. KING:  Yeah, I can't say off the top what those exact numbers are.  We do our shared services.  We have a model with BDR that we use for shared services between our various companies.  What particular driver behind that 101, 98?  Were they real cost changes or more effort required?  I am not sure of the exact driver of it.

MR. BATTISTA:  Could you undertake to try and get an explanation?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Because they are built in, so they are there now in your '15 --


MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  -- as a cost driver opening/closing balance, it is just --


MR. KING:  They would be costs, obviously, that would not be in our other businesses.  So they came out of other businesses, and now they are in this business.

MR. BATTISTA:  So it could be, in a sense, a reflection of the basis of charge determinant --


MR. KING:  Exactly.

MR. BATTISTA:  -- where you say your assets went up on the TX side for some reason or some work activity or --


MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  -- or whatever.  It would be helpful if that could be further explained.

MR. KING:  We will.  I am not sure how much detail we can provide, but we will undertake to do our best efforts there.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  With reference to Exhibit 4, Tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 2 JB, entitled "Recoverable OM&A Cost Driver Table", to account for an increase in shared services between 2010 actual and requested proposed OM&A for 2015

MR. BATTISTA:  And it is correct that the retirement costs of the 25-Hertz facilities and your proposed recovery of the FORTRAN dollars, those dollars are in your OM&A amounts, actuals for the Hertz, and proposed '15/'16 for the FORTRAN; right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  Because there is no deferral account.  There is no rate riders.  There is nothing.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. BATTISTA:  You are just doing it by way of OM&A, so that would account for the increase for the Hertz since 2010, let's say, and then your increase in '15 and '16, some of that has to do with it's not business as usual; it is something that sometimes could be recovered by way of a rate rider.

MR. KING:  Correct.  Both would be in the OM&A, but neither one of those would be part of shared services.  They would be, you know --


MR. BATTISTA:  They are separate items.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Like, they are standalone items.

MR. KING:  Yes, yes.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  My next question is 4-Staff-35, and this is the removal of the 25-cycle transmission line.  And that was removed from service in April 2009.  And it seems that you have accelerated the number of, let's say, towers that you are removing as compared to what you originally did, and I was wondering why the public -- weren't the public safety concerns the same then as they are going to be now and into the future?  So what would account for this acceleration in the test year as opposed to what happens during the -- did you start in 2010, I believe -- you know, since 2010?

MR. HAN:  The driver of improvement, you know the faster retire this facilities is directly related to customer complaints because this tower is along the Niagara River.  A section of that is in people's backyard, and we have conductors drop down during our inspection and during storms, so we consider this as -- you know, getting more and more complaints on this, and we consider, if one day if one of the tower failed, because they are not very well guided, and, you know there's -- it's not 100 years.  I think it is 1950 or '60 -- '30 or '40.

MR. BRADBURY:  1930s.

MR. HAN:  The '30s, and a lot of them -- you know, we still have a single-phase line nearby that tower serving residential customers, and we go there doing inspection, and we found there are cracks on the stills, and we have conductor dropping.  So those are the things concerns us, that the more and more public safety things put on the table, and we decided to start 2012 is not only the last couple years.  We started that, and also that has to balance with the budget, considering, you know, whether we can do this within, you know, the financial means, how fast we can do it.  So that is where we come up to this plan.

MR. KING:  The main driver or the acceleration is basically public safety.  We feel we are at a point now where the towers, they could come down.  You know, so we are concerned with that, and that is why we have moved up the program.

MR. BATTISTA:  And that wasn't the case in 2010 or 2011?

MR. KING:  As Jie said, there has been more complaints, and, you know, it goes through residential backyards, and so we feel like it is imperative that we move these towers as that's our -- you know, where we stand today on that.

I guess the other part of that customer complaint -- Doug just shared with me -- is that customers are now realizing these towers aren't in use; that they are in their backyards.  And so they see the tower next to it down, and so we are getting, you know, from customers saying, well...

MR. BATTISTA:  4-Staff-38, and this has to do with full-time equivalence.  And the question was, "Does FTE stand for full-time equivalent?"  And the answer was yes.  And then in your evidence you say compensation, you know, all-in compensation for an FTE is $32,000 a year.

MR. KING:  I guess we -- we answered the question.  The question was that it asked for full-time equivalence, so what is going on in that table is that mistakenly the only thing included in salary costs would be the allocated costs.  The direct charge from timesheets for operations folks aren't included there in that sheet, so that's why the average is understated.  It is -- what is it, 11 or 12 employees?  But it is only the allocated costs on salaries that was included, and that is why the average looks so small.

MR. BATTISTA:  So is there an undertaking to --


MR. KING:  If you want an undertaking, it will take some time, but if you want an undertaking, we can do that.

MR. BRADBURY:  That will be very difficult because -- an undertaking is going to be lengthy because, in order to answer your question definitively, we will have to go back through all timesheets and determine the actual number of hours that were charged, so I think we can give you -- what we can give you is the average wage, and the average number of hours can give you a much -- can give you the answer you want.  It can give you an indication of what that number is.  To give you an exact number is a significant challenge.  It would have to take records out of storage and then manually go through records.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  Just 32,000 doesn't cut it so --


MR. KING:  You are correct; you are correct.

MR. BRADBURY:  So what we could do on an undertaking is provide you with the number of staff that work on transmission, so it would be like an FTE of those staff that allocate their time through timesheets.

So you are clear, I am in a staff position, so I have a percentage allocation.  A line person or an electrician only charges when he actually goes to work on it, and the code appears on his timesheet.

So what we can do is give you an average wage for the people who work on it and the number of hours they worked on it and then give you an FTE based on that, and I think that will give you the answer you are looking for.

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, that is good.  Just so that I --


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  To give an average wage for the people who work on it and the number of hours they worked on it, and then give an FTE based on that.

MR. BATTISTA:  Just so that -- the TX staff of FTE of 11.7, they are all allocated, so even your blue collar staff are --


MR. KING:  No.

MR. BRADBURY:  No, no.

MR. KING:  Under the DPR report, they look like they are allocated.  But, you know, when we are doing total allocations for IT folks and that, we use those in the mix but they are not allocated.  The allocation would be Doug.  Doug's time would be allocated.  But when our operations staff -- but I guess they are allocated in one sense in they -- it depends how you use the word allocate.  They use time sheet to charge am I working on DX or am I working on TX.

MR. BATTISTA:  But are they -- who -- is Doug an (11.78) FTE?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, I am.

MR. KING:  His right arm is, I think.

MR. BATTISTA:  You're a blue collar staff.

MR. BRADBURY:  As well as other.  What we do if -- in the BDR report which is filed in evidence, is we forecast the amount of work that is required.  You know, there is various forecast and various estimating tools and we estimate it.  And we use those numbers of 11.6 because the FTEs are -- drive a lot of the costs.

And I will give you an example.  So say I work in the main building there and we do snow clearing.  Well, because a part of me is allocated to transmission and I occupy that building and the snow clearing is for me to park, so I go into the mix of the allocation as part of the snow clearing cost of transmission.  So it is a very -- it is an allocation of full-time --


MR. BATTISTA:  It is complicated.

MR. BRADBURY:  It is very, very complicated.  So, even though we forecast and we estimate how many blue collar workers are going to be there, when they actually do it, it appears on the time sheet.  Because people keep time sheets.  I keep an exception time sheet, so I would only file a time sheet if I do something out of the Ordinary.  So they do a time sheet on a regular basis, so they allocate to the transmission work orders.

MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  I have no further questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Andrew, anything to wrap up?

Okay.  Thank you very much, everyone.  This has been very helpful for us.  And this concludes the technical conference.
--- Whereupon matter adjourned at 11:02 a.m.
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